























SATE(d)

From: S47E(d)

Sent: Monday, 3 April 2023 11:35 AM

To: S47E(d)

Subject: RE: Document preparation for Monday - ROE etc [SEC=0FFICIAL]

Attachments: Questions that Defence undertook to conduct further work.pdf; Defence Opening
Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).pdf; Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April
2023).docx

OFFICIAL

1 SATE(d)

Attached are PDF copies of the opening statement and the additional responses document.

The opening statement was in track changes so | accepted all. While noting that, it mentions both myself andS47E@)
SATE(d) a5 if we are there, so | have attached the word version if you want to make changes.

Thanks

S47E(d)

Research Officer

Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
Department of Defence

S47E(d) Brindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
> S4TE(d)

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.

From:S47E(d)

Sent: Monday, 3 April 2023 11:12 AM
To:S47E(d)

Subject: Fwd: Document preparation for Monday - ROE etc [SEC=OFFICIAL]

Hi S47E(d)
Please remove draft marking and pdf attached and send back to me.

Please also send me electronic copy of opening statement.
s47E(d)

S4TE(d)

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group



_ Brindabella Park ACT
p.SATEd)  m:s22

Begin forwarded message:

From:

Date: 2 April 2023 at 4:51:00 pm AEST
To:_

Subject: FW: Document preparation for Monday - ROE etc [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

i SATE()]
Attached is what | printed today and replaced the ‘further response’ document in packs.

All the other documents were already in the pack.

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

sare@ sz
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If

you have received this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email
immediately.

From: Holmes, Mark BRIG S4TE(A)

Sent: Saturday, 1 April 2023 6:32 PM
To:_

Cc:
obards, Paul DR 1 SA7E(E)

Subject: Document preparation for Monday - ROE etc [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

Hellt-and -can we ensure that we have complete hard copies of the 1978, 1979 and 1982
documents attached.

Everyone, please find attached my revised work using-help so far to have some words for
each of the questions. Can we have this in hard copy also as our amendments for Monday will need

to be via pen anyway.

Safe travels, see you Monday.

Regards, Mark



Brigadier Mark Holmes

Australian Defence Force Headquarters (ADFHQ)

s22

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

Sent: Friday, 24 March 2023 1:46 PM
To: Holmes, Mark BRIGS47E(d)
s47E(d)
Cc: S47E(d)
s47E(d)

Subject: Rifle Company Butterworth - Rules of Engagement [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

Good afternoon all

Following on from our conference call yesterday afternoon, | am forwarding on** Ppehalf the
versions (that we are aware of) of Rifle Company Butterworth’s Rules of Engagement.

They date from 1978, 1979 and 1982; and have been extracted from material discovered through
the Nature of Service Directorate’s research over the years.

Regards
s47E(d)

Research Officer

Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
Department of Defence

SATE(

d) Brindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
p s47E(d)

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.






S47E(d) (shelher)

Executive Officer

to First Assistant Secretary People Services
Defence People Group

Department of Defence

S4TE(d)  Russell Offices | PO Box 7927 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
p: S47E(d) M: S22

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

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 12:19 PM

To: S47E(d)

Cc:

Subiject: RE: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).docx [SEC=0OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).pdf

OFFICIAL

| reworked the O’Haire paragraph. Let me know if any other changes are needed.

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.

From S47E(@)

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 11:12 AM
To:S47E(d)

Cc: S47E(d)
Subject: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).docx [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

SATE(d)

Can you pls check the statement — I've tried to add in Mark Holmes handwritten notes. In particular, pls check the
O’Haire para?
Once fixed, can you please PDF and send to S#7E@will submit to S47E(d)

Cheer,
SA7E(d)

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.






Defence FOI 711/22/23
Document 6
Sent from my iPhone



Defence FOI 711/22/23

Document 7

S47E(d)

From: S47E(d)

Sent: Tuesdav. 11 Aoril 2023 10:12 AM

To: s47E(d)

Cc:

Subiject: FW: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

Attachments: 120321 - MINSUB - Signed by PARLSEC - NOS classification of RCB as peacetime
service.pdf; 190322 - MS19-000484 - Supplementary Advice to MC18-003435 - RCB -
Follow on from MINDP-VCDF Meeting on 05 Mar 19 - not 2016.pdf

OFFICIAL
HiS47E(d)

At the hearing, the Chair made comments about Defence commencing to use the term ‘substantially’ in briefing to
government and letter to individuals.

The question is, ‘do we know why (and when if before 2011) Defence started using 'substantially more
dangerous than normal peacetime service?’

SATE(d)

SATE(d)

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

BP33-1-054 | Brindabella Park ACT
PS47E(d) M:S22

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

Sent: Thursday, 6 April 2023 3:59 PM
To: S47E(d)

Subject: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

SATE(d)

The first attachment is Ministerial Advice MA11-001151. This is the Secretary / CDF brief signed on 24 November
2011. Paragraphs 7 and 9 use the phrase ‘substantially more dangerous’.

The second attachment is Ministerial Submission MS19-000484. It has numerous attachments including the letter to
S4TF dated 4 December 2013, in which the same phrase is used.

Regards

S4TE(d)

Research Officer
Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
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) Snowdon201/MA11-001151
\ 7 UNCLASSIFIED om0t
/ Reference; SEC/OUT/2011/437]

1
% . CDF/IOUTROIN |21
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Anstralian Government
Drpertmcat of Defcams  MINISTERIAL ;@% Routine

/ ""\’7 GHice of Sﬂnator 'J’

"h"rr-'—w-.r- iy

Date Dept Approved: Date Rec Bos :
cpt Appro ® “‘?ﬂa“ 2 3 FEB 101 LJDm Due
For Actlon: Senator Feeney s SﬂraeTaer;n tor

Defence

For Info: Minister for Defence/ Mr Snowdon

Subject: Nature of Service (NOS) Classification — Australian Defence Force Service a
Butterworth from 1970 to 1989

Purpose:
To seek your agreement that Australian Defence Force (ADF) service at Butterwarth from 1970 to
1989 remains classified as peacetime and obtain your signature on a lefter to the Hon Bruce Bill

- MP advising him of your decision.

Key Points:

‘1. ‘This advice follows from your meeting on 13 Oct 11 with the Secretary to discuss Butterworth
nature of service issues.

2. Following numerous submissions requesting warlike status and based on advice from the then
VCDF (Attachment A), on 18 September 2007 the Hon Bruce Billson MP retrospectively declared
the service of the Rifle Company Butterworth (RCB) from 1970 to 1989 as either hazardous
service under section 120(7) of the Veterans' Entitlements Act 1986 or non-warlike service in
accordance with the 1993 Government framework.

3. 1n 2009, it was discovered that the Instruments of Determination (Attachment B) inadvertently
omitted the RAAF Airfield Defence Guards (ADG), Police and Security Guards, did not cover all
the appropriate dates and had not been registered on the Federal Register of Legislative
Instruments. Consequently, all ADF service at Butterworth from 1966 to today remains classified
as peacetime service.

4, A 2011 Defence review (Attachments C and D) assessed that, from first principles, the
reclassification of ADF service at Butterworth from 1970 to 1989 as hazardous service under
section 120(7) of the Veterans' Entiflements Act is not supported by the available evidence, .
although that case had previously been made by Defence and accepted by Government.

S. The 2011 Defence review found that official documents indicated that the roles of the RCB were to
provide a ground force presence in Malaysia, conduct training and, if required, assist in the ground

"~ defence of Butterworth. The evidence now available does not support the claim that RCB was an _
operational deployment and that its primary role was to protect Australian assets at the Butterworth

"~ Bise. This review assessed that the 2007 review relied on selective information provided by the
RCB Review Group and that little objective research was undertaken in relation to the claims made

~bytheRevicw Group.

6. Current policy is that all submissions seeking review of a nature of service classification of past
operations are considered in the context of the legislation and policies that applied at the time of
the operation under review. In the case of ADF service at Butterworth, from the end of
Confrontation in 1966 to the end of the RCB rolc in December 1989, the applicable Acts are the
Repatriation (Special Overseas Service) Act 1962 and the Veterans' Entitlements Act.

Page.l of 5
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Snowdon/201 1/MA11-001151
UNCLASSIFIED Schedule No:

Reference; SEC/OUT/201 1.543']
CDF/OUT/2011/[281

7. Hazardous service was introduced into the Repatriation Act in 1985 in order to cover service that
was substantially more dangerous than normal peacetime service, but could not be classified as
peacekeeping service although it attracted a similar degree of physical danger. At that time,
peacekeeping was intended to cover ADF service with the United Nations (UN) Transition
Assistance Group in Nemibia and was described as *a force raised by the UN or another
international body for the purposes of peacekeeping [not further defined] or observing or
monijtoring any activities or persons in an area outside Australia that may lead to an outbreak of
hostilities.” Hazardous service has not previously been applied before 1986, however there is no
legislative reason why hazardous service could not be applied retrospectively, including to any or
all ADF service at RAAF Butterworth from 1970 to 1989, should MINDEF choose to do so.

8. Reclassification of ADF service at Butterworth before 1985 as hazardous service does not accord
with the policy of considering past operations in the context of the legislation and policies that
applied at the time. Notwithstanding, ceses should be considered on their merit and where a clear
anomaly of significant disadvantage or injustice exists, exceptions to policy should be allowed
where there is no other available remedy. The evidence does not indicate that peacetimhe service at
Butterworth from 1966 (post-Confrontation) creates an anomaly or unfairly disadvantages any
personne] which might support en exception to the policy based on this consideration alone.

9. For any ADF service, including at Butterworth from 1970 onwards, to meet the original intent of
hazardous service, the service would need to be shown to be substantially more dangerous than
normal peacetime service and attract a similar degree of physical danger as peacekeeping service.
The evidence does 16t indicate that ADF service at Butterworth from 1966 satisfied these
conditions.

10. Previous extemal reviews (General Gration’s 1993 Committee of Inquiry into Defence and
Defence Related Awards, and Justice Clarke’s 2003 Review of Veterans’ Entitlements) have not
supported reclassification of ADF service at Butterworth from 1966 above peacetime service.

11. Defence Legal, in consultétion with staff at the Australian Govermment Solicitor, has advised that
Defence is not legally obliged to register the current documents (Instruments); however it is
possible to do so if Defence so chooses (Attachment E). DVA legal advice is that whether or not
the Instruments are registered does not affect their Validity, ie they are valid either way and give
rise to benefits under the Veterans' Entitlements Act. Their advice goes on to say that if reglsbered.
the documents could be immediately revoked if the reclassification Iacks merit. One issue in not
registering them is that the Instruments have already been released through the FOI process. A
second issue is that failure to proceed with registration may lead to claims under the Defective

Administration Scheme.-
12. Accepting that ADF service at Buftérworth from 1970 does not mect the essential criteria and
intent of hazardous service under section 120(7) of the Veterans' Entitlements Act, a proposal to

formally reclassify this service might be based on an obligation flowing from the 2007 VC F~
recommendation and decision by Minister Billson to reclassify this service as hazardo

Page2of §
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. } . " Snowdon/201 1/MA11-001151
UNCLASSIFIED Schedule No:

Reference: SEC/OUT2011/4377
__ CDFOUT2011/ 281

13. Registration of the 2007 Instruments would create an anomaly and disadvantage those RAAF
*  ADG, Police and Security Guards who served directly and primarily in the defence of the
Butterworth Base. Further, the service of all other ADF personnel at Butterworth from 1970 to
1989 could arguably be included in any revised determinations. An anomaly could also be created |
in that hazardous service under section 120(7) of the Veterans' Entitlements Act and non-warlike
service provide subtly different levels of benefits. While both provide the more beneficial standard
of proof, hazardous service does not provide eligibility to the occurrence test in considering
disability pension claims.

14. Advice from the office of the PARLSEC is that Senator Feeney would entertain a recommendation
that the original decision by Minister Billson be overturned. However, a considerable outery could
be expected from RCB support groups. Legal advice from both DVA and Defence Legal on the
current status of the existing Instruments provides flexibility on how this matter might be resolved.

15. It is estimated that some 9,000 ADF personnel served with-RCB from 1970 to 1989. The cost of
including this service in the DVA budget is assessed as significant. DVA is yet to advise this cost.
Inclusion of the RAAF ADG, Police and Secufity Guards would have an additional cost ,
(epproximately 540 personnel) and extension to all ADF personnel on the basis that all personnel
at Butterworth were exposed to the same conditions (approximately 13,000 personnel) would have

;  avery significant financial impact. :

16..Separately, Mr Billson wrote to you on 31 October 2011 (Attachment F) advising thiit he had
received a copy of a letter to you dated 25 Aug 11 from the Royal Australian Regiment

Corporation which raised the issues concerning the accuracy and legitimacy of the 2007
Instruments. Mf Billson requested your consideration and that you *seek to uphold the clear policy

intention of the September 2007 RCB nature of service determination in a way that does not
mmmmfﬂmﬁﬁon beneﬁts'

Conchision:

17. Based on information now available and the intent and application of the relevant legislation and
policies, it is assesséd that ADF service at Butterworth diiring the period 1970 to 1989 does not
meet the level of risk associated with a classification of hazardous service under section 120(7) of
the Veterans' Entitlements Act. Such an assessment is consistent with other external reviews of
ADF service at Butterworth.

18. There is no new and compelling evidence to indicate that retention of the current peacetime nature
of service classification would create an anomaly or would unfzirly disadvantage any ADF
personnel. On the contrary, the evidence indicates that an anomaly and unfair disadvantage would
be created by providing hazardous service to RCB personnel while all other ADF personnel
remained under a peacetime classification. Classification of RCB service from 1970 to 1989 as
hazardous service would contradict the practice of considering the nature of service of past
operations in the context of the legislation and policy that applied at the time of theé operation
under review.

Page 3 of 5
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UNCLASSIFIED - Schedule No: ’

Reference: SEC/OUTR01/ AT T
CDF/OUT2011/281

lie;;ﬁiihéﬁdndons:

That you:

1 Note that the most recent and detailed review of ADF service at Butterworth from 1970 to 1989
do oot S pport reclassification of this service as hazardous service under section 120(7) of the

at a case could be made that there is an obligation flowing from the 2007 decision by
br Billson, but this would create further anomalies.

i,

iii. Agree that ADF service at Butterworth from 1970 to 1989 does not meet the essential criteria for
assification as special duty, or warlike or non-warlike service.

greed / Not agreed
iv.  Agree that all ADF service at Butterworth from 1966 should remain classified as peacetime

Not agreed
egttached Jetter to the Hon:Bruce Billson MP, advising hith of your decision.

139/:@ s1gned 522
lzhgpMdBy o Approved
S .
Duncan Lewis DJ. BUR]
Secretary GEN

: CDE |
24 Novembr 2011 72011
Contact Officer: CDRE Paul Kinghorne, RAN Pboik (02) 6207 0207
i s22
Primary Addressee
David Feeney Q

- AU WA
Information Addressee

Noted / Please Discuss

s~ L
Stephen Smith Warren Snowdon
! /7

Page4 of 5
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Snowdon2011/MAT1-001151
UNCLASSIFIED Schedulo Nos ‘

Reference: SEC/OUT/2011/437]
.CDF/OUTR011 N

Resources:
19:  N/A.
Consultation:

20. Nature of Service Branch has consulted with DVA, PM&C, DoFD, the Army History Unit, the
Office of Air Force History, the Directorate of Honours and Awards and-Mr Adam Carr (Chieéf of
Staff to Senator Feeney).

Attachments:

A. MINSUB B660823 dated 28 August 2007.

B. Unregistéered 2007 Instruments.

C. 2011 NOS Branch Review of ADF Service at Butterworth.

D. Background Paper NOS Classification ADF Service at RAAF Butterworth.
E. Defence Legal ad\nce dated 2 November 2011.

F.  Letter from the Hon Bruce Billson MP dated 31 October 2011.

G. Talking points.

H. Drafi letter to the Hon Bruce Billson MP.

Page 5 of &
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I acknowledge the importance of this issue to those who served as members of RCB at
Butterworth. | also acknowledge the efforts of the RCB Review Group to have the nature of
service for RCB during this period reclassified as warlike service. However, unless there is
compelling new evidence which has not already been considered, the Department of
Defence and Government do not intend to re-examine the matter of RCB service during the
period 1970 to 1989.

Importantly, this decision in no way detracts from the service by members of RCB during the
period.

| trust this information is of assistance to you.

Yours sincerely

DARREN CHESTER
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SA7E(d)

From: S47E(d)

Sent: Tuesdav. 11 Aoril 2023 2:39 PM

To: s47E(d)

Cc: s47E(d)

Subiject: RE: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

Attachments: 020527 - Department of Defence Submission No. 2339 - Review of Veterans

Entitlements.pdf
OFFICIAL
Thanks S47E(d)

S4TB[A);d | had a look, we found the Defence submission to Clarke during the process of the review (attached for

your info/interest) but none beyond the COSC response they already have.
| guess the point to remember is that this was a DVA Review and Defence just put in a submission during the process
—and provided Defence response to the Review via COSC/CDF after the Review Report was sent to the Min VA.

Regards
S47E(d)

SA47E(d)

Director
Nature of Service

Military Strategic Commitments Division

Russell Offices
S47E(d)

PO Box 7902
Canberra BC ACT 2610

Phone:S47E(d)

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

Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 2:18 PM
To: SATE(d)

Subject: RE: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

SATE(d)

For your information, DH&A raised one file on the Clarke Review. | have reviewed that file and did not find any
ministerial submissions.

Regards
SA7E(d)

Research Officer
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Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
Department of Defence

S47E(d) | grindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
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

Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 10:07 AM
To: S47E(d)

Cc:
Subject: FW: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

HiSA47E(d)
As discussed, RFI following latest Tribunal hearings.

One further email to follow.

SATE(d)

S47E(d)

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

S47E(d) | Brindabella Park ACT
p S47E(d) M:S22

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

Sent: Thursday, 6 April 2023 12:16 PM
To: S47E(d)

Cc:
Subject: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

Hi S47E(d)



Defence FOI 711/22/23
Document 08

I’'m sorry to add to the list of things to find, but the Chair has asked me to approach you for any ministerial
submissions made by Defence in response to the Clarke Review.
If these could be identified by the end of the April, or another date as otherwise agreed, we would be very grateful.

SA7E(d)

You might note that | will be on leave next week, but will likely be available if you need anything.

Regards
S47E(d)

S4TE(d)

Executive Officer

Defence Honours and Awards Appeals Tribunal
S47E(d)

https://defence-honours-tribunal.gov.au

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.
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Submi#sion Neo. 2339
DEPARTMENT OF DEFENCE

SEC 3377/02
CDF  uS5/02
The Hon John Clarke QC

Committee Chair
Review of Veterans Entitlements

PO Box 9563
DEAKIN ACT 2600

Dear Mr Clarke

Attached is a joint submission to the Review of Veterans’ Entitlements from the
Department of Defence and Australian Defence Force.

On a closely related matter, Defence, with the support of the Department of Veterans’
Affairs, is in the process of developing a new compensation scheme for the Defence
Force. Much of Defence’s thinking about military compensation and the way forward
is contained in two recent reviews of military compensation arrangements. These are
the 1997 Inquiry into Military Compensation Arrangements for the Defence Force

and the 1999 Review of the Military Compensation Scheme conducted by Mr Noel
Tanzer. We understand that you have access to these reports and that you have been

provided with briefings on military compensation and other matters by Defence
officers.

Also we are aware that you have spoken with the Head of the Defence Personnel
Executive, Rear Admiral Russ Shalders, about veterans’ and compensation matters.
We are pleased to support the work of your review and recognise that there may be
issues that arise in the course of your examinations that Defence should take account

of in the new military compensation scheme arrangements. To this end we would
appreciate if Admiral Shalders could be kept abreast of relevant developments in your

review.

H/c.l.’-’ h:3 S‘»\\-W‘U s22

s22

ALLAN HAWKE C.A. Barrie
Secretary Adryirai,
Chie e Defence Force

27 May2002 31 May 2002
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SUBMISSTON TO THE REVIEW OF VETERANS® ENTITLEMENTS
BY THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENCE

Introduction

1. The task of the Committee of Review of Veterans’ Entitlements to review and
make recommendations on the current policy relating to eligibility for access to VEA
benefits and qualifying service under the VEA, and the benefits available to disability
compensation pensioners under the VEA, is of direct interest to Defence. The Review
outcomes will have implications for the current military compensation arrangements and
also the new military compensation scheme that is under development.

2. While recognising that much of the Review’s work will involve the examination
of past military events and activities and the retrospective application of the VEA,
Defence welcomes the opportunity to make a submission to the Review. In doing so, it
will provide an overview of:

ADF policy on determining the nature of service for overseas deployments,
the recent history of military compensation,

the current military compensation scheme,

the proposed new military compensation scheme,

Defence issues for the consideration of the Review,

ADF Policy on Determining the Nature of Service for Overseas Deployments

Introduction

3. The ADF pay structure comprises a basic salary supplemented by work related
allowances. The basic salary, determined by the Defence Force Remuneration Tribunal,
compensates a member for peacetime work. For United Nations or other multi-national
force deplovments a special conditions of service package may be applicable to
compensate the member for those additional disabilitics/ hardships that are likely to be
experienced on such deployments.

Background

4, Prior to the 1993, the ADF had been involved in few, but an increasing number
of, overseas deployments. In each case the financial conditions of service had to be
developed separately.

5. Elements of the package had to be negotiated with several external government
agencies. Each negotiation was characterised by a ‘bidding up’ on certain elements ot
the package. The start point in negotiations was that which had been successfully
negotiated for the previous deployment. This had the affect of there not being any
certainty as to the outcomes that might be achieved. Personnel were often not advised of
their conditions of service prior to their departure due to negotiations still taking place.
Moreover, the process led to uncertainty and inconsistent outcomes between
deployments.

The Current Framework

6. The uncertainties and inconsistencies led (¢ a submission fo Cabinet in 1993
sponsored jointly by the Ministers for Defence and Industrial Relations. Underpinning
the submission was the proposition that, if the Government commits the ADF to an
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overseas deployment, Government should also determine the major conditions of service
applicable to that deployment. The submission sought to establish a framework around
which conditions of service could be built. Operation of the framework was premised
upon the classifications of ‘Warlike” and ‘Non-warlike’ service. In developing these
classifications it was acknowledged that these forms of service would be separate trom
service rendered in Australia or overseas on peacetime tasks.

7. Cabinet agreed the definitions of “Warlike’ and ‘Non-warlike” service and their
use in declaring ‘Warlike’ and ‘Non-warlike’ service. On this basis, Cabinet approved
“that the Minister for Defence consult with the Prime Minister before making a
declaration that an ADF deployment is ‘Warlike” or ‘Non-warlike™. It was and
continues to be assumed that, in the absence of a declaration of “Warlike” or “Non-
warlike® service, peacetime service and associated conditions of service would prevail.

8. Cabinet also agreed that, upon the declaration of an ADF deployment as
“Warlike’ or ‘Non-warlike’, certain conditions of service (detailed in the submission)
can be assumed to be approved.

9. The Minister for Defence does not have functional responsibility for some
elements of the package endorsed by Cabinel. Notwithstanding, the framework
established by the 1993 Cabinet decision allows the declaration by the Minister for
Defence to provide the authority for the relevant external departments to establish the
necessary provisions without the need for further justification on a case by casc basis.
This avoids the difficulty that existed pre 1993 in having to justify to each department
the reasons why a particular provision ought to be established. While Cabinet noted the
proposed awarding of medals, Cabinct acknowledged they were not a financial condition
of service and are subject to approval by the Governor General.

10. The conditivns of service which derive from the declaration of the nature of
service are based on a requirement to ensure consistency in the conditions of service
established for each deployment and between deployments and timely advice thereof
before the forces depart. The conditions of scrvice package is designed to provide:

a. adequate death and disability compensation cover;

b. compensation for the disabilities and hardships faced when, at government
direction, ADF members are placed in direct physical danger or threat situation
beyond that normally associated with peacetime service (after the establishment
of whatever occupational and safety measures are possible); and

C. certain rewards for rendering the particular type of service.

11.  The criteria ensure that only those personnel assigned to the forces involved and
who are within a designated area are entitled to the benefits available.

12.  The Minister may change the declaration of service, as Warlike, Non-warlike or
Peacetime if circumstances surrounding the deployment change. If the declaration
changes. conditions of service will also change.

Categories of Operations

13.  Warlike operations are those military activities where the application of force is
authorised to pursue specific military objectives and there is an expectation of casualties.

These operations can encompass but are not limited to:
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a. a state of declared war;
b. conventional combat operations against an armed adversary; and
C. peace enforcement operations which are military operations in support of

diplomatic efforts to restore peace between belligerents who may not be

consenting to intervention and may be engaged in combat activities. Usually
conducted under Chapter VII of the UN Charter, where the application of all
necessary force is authorised to restore peace and security or other like tasks.

14,  Non-warlike operations are defined as those military activities short of warlike |
operations where there is risk associated with the assigned task(s) and where application
of force is limited to self-defence. Casualties could occur but are not expected. These
operations encompass but are not limited to:

a. Hazardous operations. Activities exposing individuals or units to a degree of
hazard above and beyond that of normal peacetime duty such as mine avoidance
and clearance, weapons inspections and destruction, Defence Force aid to the
civil power, service protected or assisted evacuations and other operations
requiring the application of minimum force to effect the protection of personnel
or property, or other like activities.

b. Peacekeeping operations. Peacekeeping is an operation during which military
personnel, without powers of enforcement, help restore and maintain peace in an
area of conflict with the consent of all parties. These operations can encompass

but are not limited to:

(1 activities short of peace enforcement where the authorisation for the
application of force is usually limited to minimum force necessary for self

defence;

(2) activities, such as the enforcement of sanctions in a relatively benign
environment that expose individuals or units to ‘hazards’ as described

above;

(3)  military observer activities with the tasks of monitoring ceasefires, re-
directing and alleviating ceasefire tensions, providing ‘goed offices’ for
negotiations and the impartial verification of assistance or ceasefire
agreements, and other like activities; or

4) activities that would usually involve the provision of humanitarian relief
resultant from acts of violence against humanity.

15.  Peacetime operations are operations not declared Warlike or Non-warlike. These
operations can encompass humanitarian relief as a result of a natural disaster both in
Australia and overseas such as famine, cyclone or earthquake relief flights or assistance.

16.  Peacemaking is frequently used colloquially in place of peace enforcement.
However, in the developing doctrine of peace operations, peacemaking is considered as
the diplomatic process of seeking a solution to a dispute through negotiation, inquiry,
mediation, conciliation or other peaceful means.
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Review of the Current Framework

17.  Service on operational deployments overseas is recognised as being different
from that rendered under peacetime arrangements both within Australia and overseas. It
is possible however for service on an overseas deployment to be rendered under
peacetime arrangements. Those situations that do not require a commitment to provide a
military response under operational circumstances can be peacetime service. A recent
example is the humanitarian assistance provided in PNG following the tsunami disaster.
The point to be made is that service on a ‘deployment’ does not automatically warrant
the nature of service being ‘Warlike’ or ‘Non-warlike’; thereby atiracting the associated

package of conditions.

18. Broadly speaking, the conditions of service that attach to *Warlike’ service are
more beneficial than those attached to ‘Non-warlike’ service. For compensation
purposes, both ‘Warlike’ and ‘Non-warlike’ service provides access to the Veterans’
Entitlements Act and the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act (ie, dual
eligihility) which potentially provides levels of compensation cover higher than that
available on peacetime service. The exemption from taxation observes the principle of a
government not requiring members of a force to pay taxation when that force is
rendering ‘Warlike’ service at the government’s behest. The taxation rebate available
for ‘Non-warlike’ service provides recognition of the ‘isolation and uncongenial nature’
of rendering service in a given area. Access to enhanced provisions of the Defence
HomeOwner Scheme is facilitated by ‘Warlike’ service.

19.  In allowing the financial conditions of service to apply to personnel involved in
“Warlike’ or ‘“Non-warlike’ service, two pre-requisites must be met. They are:

a. that personnel are part of the forces assigned to fulfilling the *“Warlike’ or “Non-
warlike’ tasks:; and

b. that personnel are within a defined geographic area.

20.  Using a defined geographic area is merely a simple and convenient means of
drawing the boundary of the geographic area. In the past, undue significance has been
placed upon the notion of the geographic area being considered to be “Warlike’ or “Non-
warlike’ or alternatively the arguments about equity and equality have been touted. It is
the tasks being undertaken which determine whether the service rendered is “Warlike® or
*‘Non-warlike’, therefore this cannot be a function of a geographic area. The argument
that all personnel should receive the same conditions of service does not have any
equity; it fails to previde any recognition of the nature of the tasks being undertaken or
the level of disabilities endured.

21. Delivering different financial conditions of service having regard to the nature of
the tasks is equitable for all. The current arrangements allow and sheuld continue to
allow for the potential for personnel within a given geographic area to be undertaking
tasks which are different in the nature of service and therefors attracting different
financial conditions of service.

22, ‘While it has not been tested in every way, the policies attaching to the financial
conditions of service are able to meet the requirements of those rendering Peacetime,
Non-warlike and Warlike service and remain sufficiently flexible to meet circumstances
that might arise. These include circumstances such as:
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a. The potential for having ‘Peacetime’, “Warlike’ or ‘Non-warlike’ service based
upon different tasks and with different yet adjacent (or overlapping) geographic
areas thus delivering different conditions of service to each group.

b. The potential for different threat levels applying to different force elements (land,
air or maritime).

c. The potential for diflerent threat levels applying to different geographic locations
(and thus the forces therein).

Extent to Which Processes Deviate from Policy Intent

23. Often there are pressures to place units or individual personnel on “Warlike’ or
“Non-warlike’ conditions of service without firsi examining and testing whether:
a. the tasks to be performed contribute to:

(i) the aim of the UN etc mission; or

(i)  the aims of an agency extemal to the UN mission; and

b. the tasks to be performed fit within the definition of “Warlike” or ‘Non-warlike’
service.
24.  Where units not directly engaged in the activities related to the mission of the

deployment are to deploy their role and tasks must be considered to ensure the nature of
service to apply is derived from a consistent basis.

25.  Every incorrect (inappropriate) assignment of forces to an operation for the sake
of delivering enhanced conditions of service increases the pressure to do so for other
units This ignores the definitions of the nature of ‘Warlike’ and *Non-warlike’ service
and the reasons why the deployment package of conditions was established. It also has
the overall effect of devaluing the deployment package of conditions over the longer
term.

The Recent History of Military Compensation

26. It is instructive to look at the history of military compensation in order to
understand how military compensation arrangements have evolved into their current
form. An outline of the recent history of military compensation 1$ at Annex A.

The Current Scheme

27.  The current military compensation scheme provides benefits under four different
arrangements:

e the Safety Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988 (SRCA), which also
applies to other Commonwealth employees, although specific enhancements for
the ADF only were made to the SRCA by the Military Compensation Act 1994
(MCA)

e the Veterans’ Entitlements Act 1986 (VEA),

) dual eligibility under both the SRCA and the VEA; and



6

Defence FOI 711/22/23
Document 08

® additional benefits under the Defence Act 1903, (Defence Determination 2000/1).

28 The scheme also has an important interface with the military superannuation
schemes with regard to invalidity benefits where offsetting arrangements apply to some

income support provisions.

20.  The following table summarises the compensation cover that is provided under
the current scheme. It illustrates the complex interrelationship between the different
types of service and the cover provided by either the SRCA or the VEA or both.

Typeof Service If imjury .
occurred on
service:
On or after On or after On or after
7 Dec 72 and 22 May 1986 7 Apr 1994
before and before 7
22 May 1986 Apr 94
Peacetime Continuous Full time
Service (CFTS)
Enlisted on or after 7 Apr 94 N/A N/A SRCA
Enlisted on or after 22 May 86 _
(and have completed 3 years N/A SRCA & VEA SRCA
continuous service by
6 Apr 94)
Enlisted on or after 22 May 86
{and have NOT completed 3 N/A SRCA SRCA
years continuous full time
service by 6 Apr 94)
Enlisted before 22 May 86
(and have continually served SRCA & VEA | SRCA & VEA SRCA &
up to and after 7 Apr 94) VEA
Part Time Service SRCA SRCA SRCA
(Reserves, cadets etc)
Operational Service (Warlike VEA VEA SRCA &
service) VEA
Peacekeeping Service (Non SRCA & VEA | SRCA & VEA SRCA &
Warlike service) VEA
Hazardous Service (Non Not declared SRCA & VEA SRCA &
VEA

Warlike service)
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Notes:
e For service pre 7 Dec 72 members are covered under SRCA (and its predecessors)

for peacetime service and VEA for operational and peacekeeping service. There was
no provision for hazardous service.

e Members who enlisted on or after 22 May 86 and did not complete 3 years CFTS
before 6 Apr 94 but were discharged as medically unfit may claim under VEA.

s Tazardous service is service which has been declared, in writing, by the Minister for
Defence to be hazardous.

30. From the table above it can be seen that the compensation cover available to

current members of the ADF depends on the type of service, date of injury and date of
enlistment. Since 1994 access to the VEA is available only for members who undertake
warlike and non-warlike service. This means that there will continue to be a number of
ADF personnel who will have dual compensation eligibility for some periods of service,

that is:

° warlike service - (operational service under s.6F of the VEA)

® non-warlike service - (operational service under s.6F of the VEA)
- Hazardous service - (hazardous service under Part IV of the VEA)
- Peacekeeping service - (peacekeeping service under Part IV of the VEA)

31.  The SRCA component of the MCS is based on a workers® compensation model,
and since 7 Apr 94 has covered all ADF members for all types of service. It has been a
clear intention of previous governments that the ADF should be covered by a modern
compensation scheme and one based on a workers’ compensation model. ‘This was
foreshadowed in 1986 when the creation of an MCS was mooted. The process began in
1994 when the MCA began to phase out dual eligibility. Dual eligibility post 1994 is
applicable only to members whe enlisted before 22 May 1986 and those who deploy on
warlike or non-warlike service; otherwise any injury incurred on any service is covered -
by the SRCA.

32.  While it contained other provisions, the principal effect of the introduction of the
1994 MCA was to remove coverage under the VEA for peacetime service for the
majority of ADF members and to provide dual eligibility (SRCA and VEA) for ADF
members on operational service.

The New Scheme

Background

33.  There have been a number of opportunities in recent years to rationalise
compensation arrangements for the military. Most notably with the Veterans’
Entitlements Act (VEA) in 1986, the Safety, Compensation and Rehabilitation Act
(SRCA) in 1988 and in 1994 with the Military Compensation Act. On each of these
occasions there had been active consideration of the need for a separate single scheme
for the military but the necessary reform of military compensation arrangements was 1ot
delivered.

34. The push for reform gained momentum again in 1995 in response the casc of a
young soldier who was severely injured in a training accident in the Northern Territory.
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The accident resulted in the soldier becoming a quadriplegic. He was married with 3
young children and did not own a home. He was eligible for compensation benefits
under both the VEA and SRCA, however, neither of these schemes, either individually
or combined, provided adequate support for the reasonable necds of a severely injured
serviceperson. Essentially the quantum of SRCA lump sum and/or the VEA pension
was insufficient in the view of Defence to provide access to a reasonable standard of
living, including housing, so important for a severely impaired person and their family.

35.  The Black Hawk accident in 1996 provided a further example of the
inadequacies of the military compensation system. Members injured and the dependants
of those killed in this accident received different compensation entitiements depending
on the member’s date of enlistment, which in turn determined whether they had dual
compensation entitlements (to the VEA and SRCA) or not.

36.  Following the Black Hawk accident the Government initiated an Inquiry into
military compensation arrangements. The Inquiry recommended increases n
compensation benetits for ADF members who were severely injured and the dependants
of those who were killed in service. The Government agreed to the additional
compensation benefits which were implemented in 1998 through a Defence
Determination under the Defence Act 1903 and added to the benefits available under the
SRCA.

37. While the Inquiry outcomes dealt adequately with the issues ol entitlements,
particularly for death and severe injury, they did not deal with the multiple legislation
and complexity of the current scheme. In June 1997, after considering the Inquiry
recommendations, Cabinet directed that work proceed ou developing a single, self-
contained military compensation scheme covering only military personnel and
recognising the different nature of military service from civilian employment.

38. Mr Noel Tanzer was appointed in May 1998 to conduct a Review of the Military
Compensation Scheme. His primary recommendation was the establishment of a new
self-contained safety, compensation and rehabilitation scheme for the ADF covering all
service short of declared war and based on the distinct nature and needs of military
service.

39. Following the Tanzer Review, Defence proposed to Government that a new
compensation scheme be established for the Australian Defence Force. The new scheme
proposals were based largely on the recommendations contained in the report by Mr
Tanzer. After lengthy consideration the Government has agreed to proceed with the
introduction of a new military compensation scheme.

The New Scheme Arrangements

40. Tt is intended that the new scheme will apply to all military service, both in
Australia and overseas and provide a better focus on specific military service
requitements.

41. It will be based on the best practice principles and attributes of a modern
compensation system, with an appropriate emphasis on prevention and rehabilitation. It
will promote a more integrated approach to injury prevention and management in the
Defence Force with closer integration of safety, rehabilitation, resettlement and
compensation.
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42, The new scheme will operate prospectively. Existing entitlements would be
preserved. They would not change for those for those who are eligible under the present
VEA and/or SRCA scheme or who can establish their eligibility in relation to an injury
that occurred prior to the commencement date of the new scheme.

43. There will be no change to current VEA entitlements and those presently entitled
to VEA benefits would remain completely unaffected. With the introduction of the new
scheme, the VEA would be reserved for use in situations to be determined by
Government such as a major declared war.

44.  The benefits structure in the new scheme will be based largely on the benefits
available under the current scheme. That is, the benefits. from the current SRCA, plus
the additional compensation made payable under Defence Deterination 2000/1 as well
as additional benefits from the VEA. The VEA aspects include a minimum level of
compensation payment for widows with a one time choice between the new scheme
payment and a VEA style pension payment, provision of health care cards including the
gold card for the severely injured, access to the service pension for those with warlike
service, automatic treatment for specific diseases and the more beneficial standard of
proof for warlike and non-warlike service. The DVA assessments systems, suitably
modified where necessary, will be adopted, je. the Statements of Principle will be used
to determine initial liability and the Guide to the Assessment of the Rates of Veterans’
Pensions will be used to assess permanent impairment lump sums.

45. The new scheme will provide lump sum compensation for death and injury with
income support, based on pre-iujury camings and provided until retinng age, for those
who are incapacitated for work. Attendant care, household services, car and home
modifications are provided and there is an emphasis on rehabilitation and incentives for
return to work. The emphasis on vocational rchabilitation is a major feature of the new
scheme. The assistance provided for return to work, retraining and development of new
career options provides beneficial outcomes for both the employer and the employee.

46.  Where it can be demonstrated that certain categories of people (claimants) may
be worse-off under the new scheme compared to current arrangements, then
consideration will be given to the establishment of a safety net for such people. This has
already been done for widows where the Government Actuary has assessed that the
VEA widows benefits is financially better, in a whole of life sense, than the proposed
new scheme benefit. For this reason, all widows will have a one-time choice of benefits.

47. The new scheme will eliminate much of the complexity and confusion that exists
in the present compensation arrangements, principally through the removal of dual
eligibility. It will provide much improved access and visibility to those making
compensation claims.

48. An outline of the main provisions of the new scheme 1s at Annex B.
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ISSUES

The Process for Declaring the Nature of Service for ADF Deployments

49, As outlined earlier in this submission, Government has established policy and
procedures surrounding the declaration of the nature of service for approved ADF
deployments overseas. The policy provides for the Minister to declare the nature of
service as cither ‘Warlike’ or “Non-warlike’ and for the concomitant financial conditions
of service to flow automatically depending on the declared type of service. In the
absence of a declaration of service as being either ‘Warlike’ or ‘Non-warlike’ peacetime
service and associated conditions of service prevail. :

50.  The process for coming to a decision about the nature of service to recommend
to government is robust and simple. It works quite effectively if all actions are
compliant with the policy and procedural requirements. Difficulties arise when units
have deployed, without their role and tasks being examined to determine the appropriate
nature of service. Without this step being observed on every occasion there cannot be
consistency of outcomes.

51. After the nature of service is decided, the current palicy and processes for
establishing the follow on financial conditions of service also ensure consistency of
outcomes. The financial conditions of service are flexible and the process enables a
timely announcement of benefits applicable to personnel heing deployed.

57 TIn cases where there are anomalies, they have occurred where policy has not
been applied, has been applied inconsistently or has been circumvented. These cases
centre on the nature of service being incorrect or inappropriate to the tasks at hand or the
incorrect assignment to an operation of particular units or personnel. This has been done
so that personnel are provided with perceived beneficial financial conditions of service
outcomes notwithstanding that the reasons for the declaration of the nature of service for
the embracing operation do not relate to the nature of the task given to the units or
personnel concerned.

53.  Itis suggested that the Review Committee may wish to consider the use of this
framework as a suitahle vehicle for assessing the merits of retrospective access by
certain groups to the VEA and the retrospective application of ‘qualifying service’ to
certain Defence activities.

The Mehr Review of Service in South-East Asia 1955 to 1975

54. Tn 1999 the Government set up an independent review to provide advice on
possible anomalies in service entitlements affecting those members of the Australian
Defence Force who served in South-East Asia during the period 1955 to 1975. The
review was conducted by Major General, the Hon R. F. Mohr RFD ED RL assisted by
Rear Admiral P. Kennedy RAN Rtd. The report was presented to Government on 9

February 2000.

55.  Many of those who made submissions to the Mohr Review are alsc likely to
make submissions to your review as there is some commonality of purpose in the
respective reviews. It is also apparent that many of the issues considered by Mohr, and
the recommendations made, will be relevant to your review.
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56.  Defence is still in the process of implementing some of the recommendations of
the Mohr Review. In order to limit unnecessary overlap, and duplication of effort, it is
suggested that the Defence Liaison Officer, attached to your Review Secretariat, provide
more detailed advice on the Defence related outcomes of the Mohr Review.

The Principles ef Military Compensation

57. While the Review will be mainly concerned about issues of access to the VEA
and benefits for disability compensation pensioners, Defence believes that the Review
should take account of the following principies, which underpin modern military
compensation arrangements:

o The Commonwealth should provide compensation and care to members of the
ADF for incapacity and to their dependants for death related to service, on a no
fault basis. Those who have suffered incapacity related to their service should be
compensated both financially and by access to needed high quality health care.

® Financial compensation should have two components:

- adequate regular payments of income compensation, particularly for the Iong
term incapacitated (economic); and

- payment for residual loss of function, pain and suffering and loss of enjoyment of
life (non economic).

J The type of compensation benefits available should be the same irrespective of
the date of enlistment.

58, The scheme should also:

s provide coverage for full-time and part-time members of the ADF;

s emphasise prevention of work-related injuries and illness, and effective injury
management through treatment, rehabilitation, return to work and compensation
for residunal incapacity;

® provide an incentive for a return to work and an appropriate return to work
mechanism;

e provide occupational rehabilitation covering current and post ADF employment
with early intervention;

e be accessible (clients should understand clearly the benefits available, how to
access them and the consequences of any choices);

® avoid double counting and/or double jeopardy;

® be administratively efficient and fully funded,

e have limited access to common law;

e provide an appropriate dispnte resolution mechanism; and

® be sustainable at law.

59. Military compensation must have regard for the all embracing nature of ADF
service and the liability that all members have to go in harm’s way when ordered. The
arrangements should be equitable in the sense of like compensation for like mjury, or,
where differences exist there is a sustainable rationale for such differences.
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60. Military compensation arrangements should also recognise the need for strong
links between the prevention, rehabilitation and compensation elements of a
compensation scheme. The concept that safety, rehabilitation and compensation is a
continuum of injury prevention and injury management and should be a fundamental
plank of a military compensation system. '

Compensating for Risk/Hazards Associated with Military Service

61. In recognising the principle of like compensation for like injury, Defence -
considers that the type of compensation benefits available should be the same
irrespective of the circumstances 1n which the death, injury or illness of the member
occurred. Those who have suffered incapacity related to their service should be
‘compensated both financially and by access to needed high quality health care and
support services.

62, Any proposal to use military compensation arrangements to compensate for risk
in military activities, apart from running counter to the principle of like compensation
for like injury, raises a number of practical concerns.

63. ‘T'here is a formal Government process in place for the declaration of warlike and
non-warlike service for the purpose of establishing financial and other entitlements for
ADF personnel prior to an operational deployment. The process involves decisions by
the Prime Minister and the Cabinet in the case of 4 warlike deployment and the Minister
for Defence in the case of a non-warlike deployment. To go beyond this and apply more
beneficial compensation provisions to selected peacetime activities of the ADF and to
discriminate between what constitutes ‘operational” or *hazardous’ training and what
does not, has the potential to create anomalies and administrative confusion.

64. If peacetime ‘hazarduus aclivitics’ were to be covered by additional benefits, the
central issue then is to define ‘hazardous activity’. There would be a reasonable
expectation on behalf of ADF members that they would know what compensation
arrangements applied Lo a training activity prior to the commencoment of the activity.
The spectrum of daily activities that an ADF member might undertake that could be
classed as “hazardous’ or ‘operational training’ or otherwise is such that the practical
application of ihe concept would be difficult if not unworkable.

65. ADF operations and training rely critically on teamwork at all levels. To try to
separate vne set of activities from another, ic, activity support from the actual
operational training component would inevitably produce anomalies and adversely
affect unit cohesion and morale.

66.  There are many variations of circumstances where ‘hazardous’ could apply to the
daily activities of all members of the ADF and that most, if not all, members are
involved to varying degrees in training for war during peacetime. Increasingly there is a
blurring of the line between peacetime training and activities of a warlike and non-
warlike nature and in these circumstances the application of the *hazardous service’ or
‘operational training® conecpt for additional compensation cover for selected peacetime
activities would be unworkable.

G7. Cven if these difficulties were deemed acceptable, there would remain practical
issues such as the geographical and timing boundaries of ‘hazardous’ activities. For
example, if it were agreed that an Army exercise involving the use of live ammunition
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and explosives fell into the category of ‘hazardous’ or “operational training’ how would
the parameters be set? In particular, what would happen in circumstances where two
vehicles carrying the troops into, or out of, the declared exercise area crashed injuring
and killing some soldiers either side of the geographic or time duration boundary.
Some soldiers may receive dual entitlements and some may not, yet they were injured
under the same circumstances.

68. Defence considers that any proposal to divide peacetime activities into
“hazardous’ or ‘operational training’ and other routine peacetime activity only serves to
reinforce what is wrong with the present system, that is, the differential application of
compensation benetits depending on the nature of service rendered. The Defence view
is that military compensation arrangements should have regard for the totality of ADF

. employment and there should not be any difference in.treatment within the scheme for
different types ot ADF service.

Rehabilitation and Return to Work

69.  Rehabilitation is an essential component of any compensation system and its
importance in the management of compensation cannot be overstated. It has two major
purposes. Medical rehabilitation is the restoration of physical and mental function
following an injury or incident and occupational rehabilitation is the restoration of
productive work function and effective functioning in the community.

70.  In the present military compensation arrangements, the SRCA places a strong
focus on rehabilitation as a means of restoring function in injured personnel and
facilitating a downstream reduction in compensation costs. Ilistorically, rehabilitation
has not been a feature of the VEA, however, DVA has recently introduced the Veterans
Vocational Rehabilitation Scheme to provide vocaticnal rehabilitation to veterans who
require special assistauce to make the transition to suitablc paid ecmployment. It operates
in a similar fashion to SRCA occupational rehabilitation.

71. It is Tecugnised that, due to the fitness standards and deployability requirements
of ADF employment, a large number of those members who need occupational
rehabilitation to assist in their return to work will require a program designed to return
them to employment in the civilian environment following discharge from the ADF.

72.  Defence understands that not all injured members, discharged from the ADF,
will be able to retwn to a reasonable level of function or meaningful work on a
permanent basis. One of the characteristics of military compensation is the provision of
rehabilitation support for the severely injured that is concerned with the maintenance of
‘quality of life’.

73. It should be noted, however, that the role of rehabilitation in modem
compensation arrangements significantly alters the concept of totally and permanently
incapacitated (T&PI) as it currently exists in the VEA. The T&PI classification will not
exist in the new military compensation scheme where arrangements are designed to
support each individual on the basis of their level of impairment and their needs.
Effective rehabilitation will restore a level of productive function and capacity for work
in most injured members who are discharged from the ADF, and hence, the numbers of
truly totally impaired personnel in the future is likely to be relatively small.
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Financial Bepefits

74. The financial compensation provided in the SRCA part of the existing military
compensation scheme, and proposed for the new scheme, has two components:

- Regular weekly payments of income compensation (taxed) for those who are
incapacitated for work (economic loss). This amount 1s based on the person’s
pre-injury earmings.

- Lump sum payment (untaxed) for residual loss of function, pain and suffering
and loss of enjoyment of life (non economic loss).

75. These arrangements reflect the circumstances of the individual, ie level of
impairment and income, and are not directly influenced by the nature of service being
rendered by the member at time of irjury. Defence considers that these arrangements
deliver more equitable outcomes in financial compensation to the individual than the
VEA pension arrangements, which relate to various categories of service and involve a
complex inter-relationship with broader community social sccurity benefits.

76.  In considering the benefits available to disability compensation pensioners under
the VEA, the Review should be aware of the potential for any proposal to change the
rates of the VEA disability pension to influence the structure of financial compensation
arrangements in the new military scheme.

Department of Defence
6 May 2002
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Annex A

Compensation Cover for the AD¥
A Brief Legislative History

1. Since World War IL, disability compensation cover for members of the ADF has
undergone many legislative and conccptual changes. Until 1949, members of the ADF
were provided with compensation cover under repatriation legislation for death, injury
or disease which occurred as a result of their war or warlike service. Compensation
cover for peacetime service was limited to that provided under the Defence Act, the °
Naval Defence Act and the Air Force Act.

2. On3 January 1949,-oompensation cover for peacetime service, including members
of the Reserve, was provided under the same legislation applying to all other
Commonwealth employees, namely the Commonwealth Employees Compensation Act
1930. Cover for service of a warlike nature remained under repatriation legislation.

3. In 1973, following the withdrawal of Australian forces from Vietnam and in an
attempt to rotain former National Servicemen in an all volunteer defence force, the
Government made provision for members on peacetime service to also have limited
coverage under the Repatriation Act 1920, subject to a three year qualifying period. The
provision was backdated to 7 December 1972. Members on peacetime service also
retained coverage under the Compensation (Commonwealth Employees) Act 1971
which had repealed the Commonwealth Employees Compensation Act 1930 on 25 May
1971. This act had alse extended compensation cover to include schonl cadets. Under
these ‘dual eligibility’ arrangements, any compensation paid under repatriation
Jegislation for peacetime service was offset against that paid under Commonwealth
compensation legislation.

4. The concept of Peacekeeping service was introduced into the Repatriation Act
1920 via the Repatriation Acts Amendment Act 1981 on 30 October 1981. The
compensation entitlements introduced for peacekeeping service were identical to those
for other service, including peacetime service, under the Repatriation Act 1920. Its
introduction therefore, did not greatly affect the benefits available to ADF members
serving on peacekeeping operations at that time. The provisions however, were
retrospective and as such were applied to all previous peacekeeping operations (the first
one being the Security Council Commission of Investigation on the Balkans which
commenced on 49 January 1947). This provision also introduced cover for non-
members of the ADF, such as members of the Australian Federal Police, who served on
peacekeeping operations.

5. On 22 May 1986, the Veterans® Entitlements Act (VEA) was intreduced.
Previously, the trend had been for new operations to be legislated separately. Service in
Malaya during the Emergency, for example, was covered by the Repatriation (Far East
Strategic Reserve) Act 1956, while Vietnam was covered under the Repatriation
(Special Overseas Service) Act 1962. The VEA repealed and replaced all these existing
Acts, consolidating their provisions into the one Act.

6.  The VEA also infroduced the new concept of ‘hazardous service’ in recognition of
the fact that operations could occur which weren’t warlike in nature, but which had a
higher degree of risk than normal peacetime service. The disability compensation cover
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provided for members on hazardous (and peacekeeping) service under the VEA is the
same as that for operational service. (It should be noted that operational service under
the VEA can also provide eligibility for the Service pension. The purpose of the Service
pension however, is income support, not compensation.)

7.  Members on peacetime service were also provided with disability compensation
cover under the VEA. The compensation entitlements provided for peacetime service
under the VEA was basically the same as for other forms of service, but was subject to a
less generous standard of proof. The extension of cover under the VEA for peacetime
service was seen as an interim measure until such time as a military compensation
scheme could be put in place.

8. On 1 December 1988 the Compensation {Commonwealth Employees) Act 1971
was repealed by the Commonwealth Employees Cumnpensation Act 1988 (later renarmed
the Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Act 1988 (SRCA}). This new Act
introduced a much greater emphasis on rehabilitation than had been evident previously,
along with provisions relating compensation to a willingness to undergo rchabilitation
(A greater emphasis on prevention was also introduced on | September 1991 with the
introduction of the Occupational Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act
1991.)

9.  On7 April 1994 the Military Compensation Scheme (MCS8) was introduced. The
MCS introduced dual ¢ligibility under the VEA and the SRCA for members on
operational, peacekeeping or hazardous service. With the exception of members who
had enlisted before 22 May 1986 and had continually served up to and after 7 April 1994
however, it removed dual eligibility for thosc members on peacetime service. With this
ore exception, all members on peacetime service were covered by the SRCA only. The
MCS also introduced compensation cover under the provisions of the SRCA for holders
of honorary rank, members of philanthropic organisations providing services to the ADF
and those involved in approved post discharge resettlement training.

10.  The Inguiry into Military Compensation arrangements for the Australian Defence
Force of March 1997 resulted in further changes. The most significant was the
provision of a Severe Injury Adjustment from the maximum payable under the SRCA to
a CPI linked amount of $200,000* plus $50,000* for each dependant child. The death
benefit lump sum was also increased to a CPI linked amount of $200,000* plus a new
payment of $50,000* for each orphaned child. These increased benefits were not to
affect any cntitlement under the VEA.

* ag at July 2002 the amounts will be $229,024 and $57,256
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Annex B

AN OUTLINE OF THE NEW MILITARY COMPENSATION SCHEME

The proposed new Military Compensation Scheme is based largely on the
recommendations of the Tanzer Review. There are some differences and these
relate, in the main, to the reform of occupational health and safety arrangements
for the ADF, the governance arrangements for the new scheme and the optivns
for the appeal process. .

It is proposed that:
A New Scheme
(a) A new military compensation scheme that integrates occupational health and

safety, rehabilitation and compensation in a single, stand-alone Act be established
for the ADF such that it:

(1) is based on the essential attributes of a Model Military Compensation
scheine identified by the Review;

(ii) provides suitable guidance for the management of occupational health
and safety in the ADF where proposed reforms of the Occupational
Health and Safety (Commonwealth Employment) Act do not meet the
particular OH&S needs of the Defence Force.

Coverage and Transition

(b)

(c)

(d)

The new scheme applies to all injuries occurring after the date of commencement
of the scheme. The current arrangements continiie in

place for those who are injured before that date, whether or not a claim has been
lodged by that time.

Members of the Services Cadet Scheme and ADF members undergoing discharge

~ resettlement training remain under the new scheme.

Philanthropic representatives and holders of honorary rank be included under the
new scheme on the same basis as regular and reserve members of the ADF and
members of the Services Cadet Scheme.

Interaction with the VEA

(e)

The new scheme apply to all peacetime service (including non-warlike and
warlike service) and that the VEA be retained for application in a declared war
involving a substantial mobilisation of national resources only, as determined by
the Government.

Features of the New Scheme
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Access to the new scheme for warlike and non-warlike service is on the basis of
the beneficial standard of proof as contained in Section 120 of the VEA.

The compensation benefit structure in the new scheme be based on the Safety,
Rehabilitation and Compensation Act (SRCA) and incorporate the additional
benefits which are payable to the severely injured and to the families of the
deceased currently specified by Defence Determination 2000/1, and:

(i) there be no differentiation in level of the above benefits between

~ particular groups;

(i)  the parl tiure employment provisions of the SRCA, as they relate to
income support, apply to self-employed specialist reserves deployed on
operations for short periods of full time service and that the cap related to
(he Average Weekly Ordinary Time Earnings Full Time Adult
(AWOTEFA) be removed,

(iii)  there be a mandatory lump sum redemption when income support
payments fall below $75 per week subject to certain conditions (as
currently prescribed in the SRCA) being met; and, at the request of the
claimant, there be redemption of payments between $75 and $150 per
wecek (subjcct to preseribed conditions);

(iv)  aminimum level of compensation for widows with a one-time either/or
choice between a VEA-type pension benefit and an SRCA-type lump

SUITL. -

The compensation benefit structure retain the following features of the existing
scheme (SRCA and VEA):

(1) offsetting arrangements between superannuation and mcome support;

(it) a cessation of income support payments at the current community based
compulsory retiring age; 7

(iii)  astep down arrangement after 45 weeks for income support payments;

(iv)  the provision of Department of Veterans® Affairs (DVA) health treatment
cards to facilitate more efficient administration;

(v) automatic treatment for cancer, PTSD and TB, for those with non-warlike
and warlike service,

(vi)  the availability of the service pension for those with warlike service
(qualifying service), and

(vii)  the provision of the gold card for widows and orphans and those deemed
to be severely injured.

The rehabilitation and return to work provisions of the new scheme be based on
the SRCA.

The occupational rehabilitation process be closely coordinated with the discharge
resettlement process and be able to assist members in their transition out of the
service irrespective of whether the member’s injuries are compensable or not.

The dispute resolution process be based on the SRCA model, that is, after
primary decision it should provide for internal review, and then external review
through appeal to the AAT with appropriate conciliation and mediation steps.
The VRB could be included as an additional layer of review if warranted.



Defence FOI 711/22/23
Document 08

19

Regulation

(1)

A new regulatory Commission be established to supervise the proposed new
scheme, monitoring legislative compliance and administrative performance and
to provide advice to the Minister and the Defence Organisation on the operation
of the scheme. In effect, the new Commission would pick up the role that the
Safety, Rehabilitation and Compensation Commission (SRCC) and Comcare
currently perform in relation to the SRCA. The membership of Commission
would comprise the existing Repatriation Commission and include
representatives from the ADF, the Department of Defence and the SRCC. The
Repatriation Commission would remain a separate entity for the purpose of
administering the VEA.

Fundiug

(m)

Funding of the new scheme be on a pay as you go basis. Following consultation
between Defenee and the Department of Finance and Administration, the
Minister for Finance and Administration advised that he was satisfied that
appropriate financial transparency arrangements have been established. The
introduction of the proposed new scheme and the phasing out of the VEA will
mean that Defence liability for compensation will increase while that of the
Department of Veterans’ Affairs will decrease over time. This will require an
appropriate funding baseline adjustment reflecting the shift in this liability to
Defence.

Administration

()

(o)

A common approach be adopted to the medical assessment of impairment and
the claims processing arrangements in both the existing Military Compensation
Scheme and the new scheme. In particular that:

(i) The DV A impairment assessment systems (the Guide to the Assessment
of Rates of Veterans’ Pensions, the Repatriation Medical Authority and
use of Statements of Principles (what about review of SoPs by SMRC)),
suitably maodified to incorporate modern ADF needs. be adopted for
medical assessment in the new scheme; and

(ii) The Repatriation Health Card — For Specific Conditions be used, as in the
VEA.

The administration of both the existing schemes (the continued management of
claims under the VEA and the SRCA) has now been consolidated within the
Department of Veterans’ Affairs. Administration of claims under the new
scheme would also be managed by DVA as part of the agreement with the
Department of Defence.
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One week on from the hearings, | provide an update and pose some questions on further work due to the
Tribunal by 30 April 2023. Please advise if | have missed a topic.

e Expectation of casualties — attached email fromS47E(d) All, is it planned to seek permission to and
then release a copy of LWP-G 0-5-2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018)? What if anything should
we say about SMTAs? (noting what we said recently — see below)

Tribunal RFI following BRIG Murray award review hearing:

(i) Do Military Threat Assessments (MTAS) provide an assessment of the level of danger and therefore the risk of
harm to which ADF forces are exposed? If

an MTA provides only a partial assessment of that risk, to what other factors or metrics does Defence have regard
in that assessment?

(ii) How does Defence form a view as to whether there is an ‘expectation of casualties” as used in the definitions
of “warlike” service?

Defence/NOS response:

In response the sub-question 1(b), the following information is provided:

(i) A Strategic Military Threat Assessment (SMTA) provides an assessment of the threat (expressed in levels —
Very Low to Very High), and is the main document

used to determine the threats to ADF personnel and capabilities.

On its own, the threat level assessed in an SMTA does not directly or automatically infer a specific NOS
classification. There are ADF operations classified as

non-warlike with the same threat level as warlike ADF operations.

(ii) The expectation of casualties is assessed as part of the SMTA.

e Response to additional questions - Attached is what we provided at hearing. All, propose that we
advise Defence has no further information to provide in relation to the two remaining questions.

e Substantially more dangerous — Attached email toS47E@ seeks any information from NOS on reason

for inclusion of term ’substantiaIIy’.S47E(d)appreciate your advice when available.

e Clarke review — Tribunal sent a request for any briefing to Minister on Clarke review. Attached
email exchange between H&A and NOS email. Nothing further found — apart from Defence
submission to review itself. All, propose we advise we have nothing further to provide and
potentially suggest they may wish to engage with DVA.

e Status of Forces Agreement — Paul suggested he wanted to provide a copy.547E(d)

you please provide?

can

e Information from veterans shared by Tribunal post hearing — objective link attached. All, suggest
we just note.

e ADF medals policy — All, do we want to provide anything further on what we say it means?

e Definitions NOS vs medals — All, do we want to provide anything further? While acknowledging

NOS/Veterans’ benefits/medals are all separate processes the Chair is sticking to his view that 1993
definitions apply to medals.
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Regards,

SA7E(d)

S47E(d)
Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

S47E(d) Brindabella Park ACT
p:S47E(d)  m:s22

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

Sent: Wednesdav 12 Anpril 2023 5:19 PM

To: s47E(d)

Cc:

Subiject: RE: Action ltems Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
HiS47E(d)

We’ve searched through documents in Objective, including circa 2011/prior, and there is no discernible
policy/legal/definition — type reason as to why someone used the term ‘substantially’ more dangerous than
peacetime service.

It appears to be a word a staff member/DG used in the first document you attached (2011/12) and then someone
responding on similar subject reused the term in the 2013 letters attached to the 2019 Ministerial . The wording
around the use of the word (substantially) looks similar as well.

Regards
S47E(d)

S4TE(d)

Director
Nature of Service

Military Strategic Commitments Division

Russell Offices
S47E(d)

PO Box 7902
Canberra BC ACT 2610

Phone: S47E(d)

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

Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 10:12 AM
To: SA47E(d)

Cc:
Subject: FW: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

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

S47E(d)  grindabella Park ACT
p-S47E(d) M: §22

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

Subject: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

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
s47F dated 4 December 2013, in which the same phrase is used.

Regards

SA4TE(d)

Research Officer

Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
Department of Defence

S47E(d) Brindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
P:S47E(d)

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
From: s47E(d)
Sent: Thursday, 13 April 2023 8:46 AM
To: Holmes, Mark BRIG; S47E(d) Robards, Paul DR 1;547E(d)
s47E(d)
Cc:
Subject: RE: Update on further work following recent RCB Inquiry hearings due 30 April 2023

[SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

Morning again all,

Apologies if this document has already been referenced in previous corro, but | noticed this reference to ‘non-
operational areas’ (ie. Malaysia being one) in a 1974 Army document regarding manning in Malaysia:

1. The 8/9 RAR Company Group for the tour of duty at Butterworth includes approximately 30 new corps
trainees. It has been revealed that 10 of the soldiers are under 18 years of age.

2. lItis requested that Dept of Defence (Army Office) review the current policy on age limits in respect of non-
operational areas as contained in Reference A, so as to allow the 10 underaged soldiers to remain with the
company for its tour.

3. 8/9 RAR has expressed concern at the disruption to company training programmes which would result from
inter-company transfers .... .

Regards,
s47E(d)

S47E(d)
Special Counsel (Defence People Group)

Co-Director — Directorate of Data and Information Law
Office of the General Counsel — Defence

Defence Legal

Department of Defence | Associate Secretary Group
Brindabella Park Offices BP33-3-039 | ACT
= S47E(d) | 2:522 | :S47E(d) | dl.generalcounsel@defence.gov.au

www.defence gov

IMPORTANT: This document contains legal advice and may be subject to legal professional privilege. Unless it is waived or lost, legal professional privilege
is a rule of law that, in part, provides that the client need not disclose confidential communications between a legal practitioner and client. To keep this
privilege, the purpose and content of this advice must only be disclosed to persons who have a need to know and on the basis that those persons also keep
it confidential.

You should consider this advice and take it into account when forming a decision on how best to proceed. If you decide to adopt a position that does not align
with this advice, you should not state that Defence Legal has cleared or endorsed a particular position.

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

Sent: Thursday, 13 April 2023 8:26 AM
To: Holmes, Mark BRIG S47E(d) Robards,
Paul DR 1 S47E(d)
s47E(d)
Cc: S47E(d)
Subject: RE: Update on further work following recent RCB Inquiry hearings due 30 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]
1
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OFFICIAL

Morning everyone,

Apologies — | forgot to add my general comments to /5@

comments).

email (which I've now placed in blue after Mark’s

Interestingly, I've been continuing my reading of the Trove articles from the 70s and 80s that reference RCB and
noticed this quote in the Army News of 3 April 1975:

... Streaming with sweat, Pte. Stephen Ingram, a 19-year-old soldier who has been with the Company for 14 months,
paused, panting, to tell ARMY that this was his first time out of Australia.

First time in Butterworth for him and, before flying in, he’d heard a lot of rumours about the base and about Penang —
some good rumours, some bad.

“Mostly | heard it was a pretty good place for a bludge,” he told ARMY.

And here another young Digger, Pte. Phil Smailes, who had served here in September last year, intercepted and took
up the ball.

“Not a bludge,” he said. “When we were up here last year | did training I'd never done before. Fired every weapon
there is to fire.

“Good training up here and a feller sees a different country and different people. Found out how other people live.”

Of course, references to training occur in various news reports in subsequent years, but | thought the above was
interesting since it quoted soldiers directly. Clearly, at least one soldier (Pte. Smailes) considered the work conducted
while in Malaysia as amounting to training.

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
ﬁ‘:547E(d) | @:822 | :347E(d) | dl.generalcounsel@defence.gov.au

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

From: Holmes, Mark BRIG S47E(d)
Sent: Wednesday, 12 April 2023 4:40 PM

To: S47E(d) Robards, Paul DR 1 S47E(d)
S47E(d)
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ceSTEQ@ T

Subject: RE: Update on further work following recent RCB Inquiry hearings due 30 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hello-thank you for the summary and work to be done. | have made comments in Army green below.

| remain troubled by the impression the Chair closed the last hearing with in that he thought ‘non-warlike’ is what
the DHAAT would recommend to the government.

The terminology and error in the Tribunal’s consideration in applying 1993 definition as if the current Government is

My other comments are within your text below.

Regards, Mark - MJH
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

From: STE@

Sent: Wednesday, 12 April 2023 2:32 PM

To: Robards, Paul DR 1 Holmes, Mark BRIG

Subject: Update on further work following recent RCB Inquiry hearings due 30 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hi all,

One week on from the hearings, | provide an update and pose some questions on further work due to the
Tribunal by 30 April 2023. Please advise if | have missed a topic.
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e Expectation of casualties — attached email fromSA7E() All, is it planned to seek permission to and
then release a copy of LWP-G 0-5-2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018)? What if anything should
we say about SMTAs? (noting what we said recently — see below) The doctrine is available and in
wide use. Send it. | agree that you should send a comment to accompany that restates the details
of the NoS response to S4TE(d) 1yt ensure that the context is clear. This analysis occurs before a
deployment in support of Nature of Service. Actual casualties, unit results, performance and study
of the operation once completed, supports the process of medallic recognition and other award
processes. MJH I'll defer to the views of others about comments to add, but | do not see any issue
with the release of LWP-G 0-5-2. E4(E(E)

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
advise Defence has no further information to provide in relation to the two remaining
questions. Agreed, nothing further to add. The questions are for a policemen or lawyer about AS
law, not specific to military problems. MJH | do not see any need to provide further
information/discussion on the remaining questions. Ultimately, | think we should just keep to
providing facts SAIEE)
e Substantially more dangerous — Attached email to 3*5@ seeks any information from NOS on reason
for inclusion of term ‘substantially’.$4"5@ appreciate your advice when
available. Acknowledged. Looks to be an enthusiastic staff error? Hand over the docs. Nothing
further to add. MJH | agree with Mark — without the ability to ask the person who drafted the
paper why the word was included, | think we just hand over the documents and state we have
nothing further to add. S47E(E)

e Clarke review — Tribunal sent a request for any briefing to Minister on Clarke review. Attached
email exchange between H&A and NOS email. Nothing further found — apart from Defence
submission to review itself. All, propose we advise we have nothing further to provide and
potentially suggest they may wish to engage with DVA. The document is reflective of the time and
would have been produced by our predecessors. Agreed. MJH | agree with stating that Defence
has nothing further to add/provide. | think it is also important to ‘remind’ the DHAAT (every so
often) that, if they are seeking to make any reference to matters within the remit of DVA, they
should consult with that agency.S4TE(@)
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e Status of Forces Agreement — Paul suggested he wanted to provide a copy.S47E(d) can
you please provide? This document lays out the clear political and strategic intent. It is also exactly
what the Defence and other DHAAT Reviews have learned. It was intended to be
Training! MJH Link provided separately by email. The document clearly states what was approved
to occur and numerous reports/articles, etc, make reference to the training element. Any deviation
from this would — | imagine - create diplomatic issues (amongst other things).547E(d)

¢ Information from veterans shared by Tribunal post hearing — objective link attached. All, suggest
we just note. Agreed. Allit does is reinforce how selected pieces of information taken out of
context can support any argument. The 51% paragraph of pg 6 in the 1975-76 Commanding
Officer’s Report that starts with Catering numbers is a case in point. It clearly states how
preparation was conducted to support the additional aircraft, Australian F111, stationed at
Butterworth, over the period. Looks professional and exactly what they would do if that capability
arrived in a base that did not have that level of capability in it previously, anywhere in the
world. So what?

The other documents, Record of Conversation in 1971, seem to accurately reflect strategic
concerns of the time. The DA and Senior military staff asking for fortnightly meetings from the
Malaysians is informative and provides another example of snippets of information taken out of
context. If the threat was high or more urgent | would assume this information might
appropriately initiate a change to meetings of greater urgency and frequency than once every two
weeks??? MJH

| agree that noting is sufficient. Particularly in relation to the 1971 Record of Conversation, it
reflects that meetings (particularly when Australians were ‘visitors’ in another country) occurred —
if meetings did not occur, it would (I suggest) be unusual from a diplomatic standpoint. As Mark
indicates, if the treat was high, then the meetings would (presumably) be more frequent.347E(d)

e ADF medals policy — All, do we want to provide anything further on what we say it means? | see
little value in reinforcing anything here. MJH | don’t think there’s anything further that can be
added here. EHE@

e Definitions NOS vs medals — All, do we want to provide anything further? While acknowledging
NOS/Veterans’ benefits/medals are all separate processes the Chair is sticking to his view that 1993
definitions apply to medals. | think we should reinforce that the consideration of Medallic
recognition as asked by the Terms of Reference are considered by the Australian government
deliberately to allow the government to make decisions related to who is recognised for what post
a deployment or operation, when the duration, intensity, threat and the history of a deployment is
understood. | think that it would be prudent to remind the DHAAT of the distinction between NOS
and medals. If the DHAAT wishes to disagree, then they can state that (and deal with the
subsequent questions from government), but ultimately we should reflect/re-state the
government’s position so there is no doubt on the subject.347E(d)

The definitions of the nature of service of particular operations and deployments are a
consideration that occurs before or at the commencement of any deployment and the purpose of
the definitions support its use. Maybe someone else should have a go at writing this more
simply? MJH

Regards,



Defence FOI 711/22/23
Document 11
S47E(d)

SATE(d)

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

S47E(d) Brindabella Park ACT
p:-S47E(d) S22

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
Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 1:38 PM
To: S47E(d)
Subject: RE: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]
OFFICIAL
S47E(d)

If it’s of any relevance, the Defence submission to the Clarke Review was publicly released. See
https://web.archive.org.au/awa/20060820022521mp /http://www.veteransreview.gov.au/submissions/7june/Sub

2339 DOD.pdf

Thanks

S4TE(d)

Research Officer

Directorate of Honours and Awards
People Services Division
Department of Defence

S47E(d)  Brindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610
o S4TE(d)

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.

From:547E(d)

Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 10:59 AM
To:S47E(d)

Subject: FW: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hi,

| assume the answer remains the same — we have identified nothing further than COSC outcomes minute previously
provided.

SATE(d) Any thoughts on whether we can or should provide them copy of attached? It’s not what they’ve asked for.

S4TE(d)

SA4TE(d)

Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group
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S47E(d) | Brindabella Park ACT
p-S47E(d) M: 822

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

Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 10:29 AM
To: S47E(d)

Subject: FW: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

i SYTEQ)

Further to this, the Chair has asked me to seek from you any Cabinet Submission and Decision relating to the Clarke
review, noting a response was provided by the PM.

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

H iS47E(d)

I’'m sorry to add to the list of things to find, but the Chair has asked me to approach you for any ministerial
submissions made by Defence in response to the Clarke Review.
If these could be identified by the end of the April, or another date as otherwise agreed, we would be very grateful.

7E(

You might note that | will be on leave next week, but STED il likely be available if you need anything.

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
From: SA7E(d)
Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 2:50 PM
To: S47E(d) Holmes, Mark BRIG
Subject: RE: NOS Comments for VCDF (DHAAT - RCB) - FW: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23
ISEE=PRETFESTEET
Attachments: s22
ROTECTED
Hi S47E(d)

I've amended in attached.

SATE(d)

S47E(d)
Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

S47E(d) | Brindabella Park ACT
p:S47E(d) m:S22

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

Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 2:03 PM
To: Holmes, Mark BRIG S47E(d)
Subject: NOS Comments for VCDF (DHAAT - RCB) - FW: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23 [SE€=PROTECTEDT

RREOT=ETE=D

S47TE(d) , , 4S47E(d)
S22

VCDF is quite

aware of the RCB issues and DHAAT review.
s22

Thanks
S47E(d)

(PS—lintend to include a pdf copy of the TORs)

(Please separately provide me any key observations from the DHAAT public Hearings.)
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Defence Honours and Awards Appeals Tribunal (DHAAT) — review of Rifle Company Butterworth service 1970 -
1989

The original terms of reference (TOR), issued April 2022, were for the DHAAT to ‘consider whether a decision by
New Zealand to extend eligibility for the New Zealand Operational Service Medal to a larger proportion of members
of the NZ Armed Forces who served in Malaysia and Singapore between 1959 and 1974, should bring about any
change to Australian medallic recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth (RCB) between 1970 and
1989, including whether that service should be recognised with an Australian Active Service Medal’ (AASM).

However the Tribunal has determined to go beyond the TORs and conduct a full review of RCB service.
RCB veterans’ seek to have their service between 1970 and 1989 reclassified from peacetime to warlike service.

Defence and Government, over many years, have long held that RCB rotations between 1970 and 1989, is
peacetime service and is recognised by the Australian Service Medal (ASM). The ASM can, and has been issued for
both non-warlike and peacetime ADF operations/activities (as assessed for NOS purposes).

There were two public hearings, 23 Nov 22 and 03-04 Apr 23. This review is the first publically streamed DHAAT
review. There were approximately 100 — 120 individuals logged in to the streaming service for each hearing via a link
on the DHAAT public website.

While the DHAAT has no authority regarding nature of service (NOS), a considerable amount of its time in the
hearings and documentation requests seek to examine the link between NOS and Honours & Awards regulations for
this service.

At both hearings the DHAAT Chair indicated that the New Zealand review/report did not support the RCB veterans’
case for recognition as warlike service. However, he did indicate the veterans’ may have a case for recognition as
non-warlike service. Defence continued to state that RCB service was appropriately classified as peacetime service.

The DHAAT is still accepting submissions up to 30 Apr 23. Defence has provided additional documents as requested
by the Tribunal.

SATE(d)

SATE(d)

Director
Nature of Service

Military Strategic Commitments Division
Russell Offices

S47E(d)

PO Box 7902

Canberra BC ACT 2610

Phone: 22
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and

dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error,
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.
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From: SATEC)

Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 8:34 AM

To: MSC Division S47E(@)
Subject: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23 {SEC=RROFEEFERY

PROTECTER

Good morning all,

Comments from VCDF

Regards,
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Document 13
S47E(d)

SATE(d)

Military Assistant to Head of Military Strategic Commitments
Air Vice-Marshal Stephen Chappell, DSC, CSC, OAM

MILITARY STRATEGIC COMMITMENTS [S47E(d) | PO Box 7902 | Canberra ACT 2610
Desk:S47E(d) Mob:522 Email:S47E(d)

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

Sent: Wednesday, 26 April 2023 3:59 PM

To: S47E(d)

Cc: S4TE(d) Holmes, Mark BRIG; 47E(d)

Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=0FFICIAL]
OFFICIAL

Hi

’

The consensus seems to be that we could share a copy of LWP-G 0-5-2 with the Tribunal (noting caveat below that it
is a crude tool that provides approximate results which cannot be reliably extrapolated to high end warfighting.

Appreciate your assistance in providing a copy of LWP or advice of where it can be located.

In addition to providing a copy of LWP (with caveat), we would repeat previously advised (separate Tribunal matter)
Defence position on expectation of casualties:

A Strategic Military Threat Assessment (SMTA) provides an assessment of the threat (expressed in levels —
Very Low to Very High), and is the main document

used to determine the threats to ADF personnel and capabilities for the purpose of nature of service (NOS)
assessment..

On its own, the threat level assessed in an SMTA does not directly or automatically infer a specific NOS
classification. There are ADF operations classified as
non-warlike with the same threat level as warlike ADF operations.

The expectation of casualties is assessed as part of the SMTA.

Regards,
s47E(d)

s47E(d)
Director Honours and Awards
Defence People Group

S47E(d) | prindabelia Park ACT
p-s47E(d) M- S22

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have
recerved this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately.

From:S47E(d)

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 3:25 PM

sTff?ZE(d) Holmes, Mark BRIG S47E(d)
o Robards, Paul DR 1'547E d

s47E(d)
Cc: S4TE(d)
Subject: Fwd: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=OFFICIAL]
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Sir, Paul, team

Please see below the initial response from JOC re casualty planning. Please note s47E(d)
comments on what is cleared for public release.

SATE(d)
Sent from my 1iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: S47E(d)

Date: 4 April 2023 at 3:12:12 pm AEST
To: SATE(d)

Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=0OFFICIAL)]

OFFICIAL
S47E(d)

To clarify, the BLUF info below not classified or sensitive.

The info under that is for your background info - I can seek COS approval for its release if
you'd like (but he is tied up at the moment).

Regards,
S4TE(d)
Director Legal (J06)

Headquarters Joint Operations Command
Defence Legal

Department of Defence | Joint Capabilities Group
Headquarters Joint Operations Command | Bungendore NSW
_S4TE(d) 1|:522

0:s47E(d) |: HQJOC JOG6 - Legal Directorate

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal
offence. If you have received this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and
delete the email immediately.

From: S47E

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 3:01 PM
To:SATE(d)

Ce. SATE(d)
SATE(d)
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Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
S4TE(d)

BLUF: JOC does have a planning process for estimating casualties for land operations.

LWP-G 0-5-2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018) per para 6.43 is the only doctrine we
can find on this topic. The data tables here are reflected in a digital logistics planning tool
(called VIPA) used by J1/4 planners. The J1/4 team have advised that this is a crude tool that
provides very approximate results. The data cannot be reliably extrapolated to situations
outside of high-end warfighting.

Regards,

S4TE(d)

Director Legal (JO6)
Headquarters Joint Operations Command
Defence Legal

Department of Defence | Joint Capabilities Group Headquarters Joint Operations Command |

Bungendore NSW
-S47E(d) |: s22

0 S47E(d) |: HQJOC JO6 - Legal Directorate

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

----- Original Message-----
From: S47E(d)

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 11:56 AM
To:S47E(d)

Cc: S47E(d)
S47E(d)

Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
S47E(d)

Copy. We'll reach out to planners and provide a response ASAP.

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

- S47E(d) || 522

0:S47E(d) |: HQJOC JOG6 - Legal Directorate

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

Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 11:48 AM
To: SATE(d)

Cc: S47E(d)
S4TE(d)

Subject: ADF Casualty planning process?

S47E(d)

Can you please ask the JOC planners if there is a process for planning casualty figures In
operations?

If there 1s something we can publicly disclose great but otherwise just a comment that there
1S a process.

We have taken the question on notice in the DHAAT and would like to respond before 1500h
today.

Thanks
S47E(d)

Sent from my iPhone
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S47E(d)
From: S47E(d)
Sent: Friday, 28 April 2023 7:27 PM
To: S47E(d) DHA Tribunal
Subject: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic
recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989 [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Defence Supplementary Submission of 28 Apr 23.pdf
OFFICIAL

Good evening S47E(d)
Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 is attached.

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
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Defence responses to remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in
Defence Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23 and topics raised at or
subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023

28 Apr 23

INQUIRY INTO MEDALLIC RECOGNITION FOR SERVICE WITH RIFLE COMPANY
BUTTERWORTH

1. Remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in Defence
Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23.

Rules of Engagement:

8(r) (i) Is the inherent right of self-defence (including the ability to employ lethal force) an
artefact of Rules of Engagement/Law of Armed Conflict/National/International/Other Law?

(ii) Is an Australian civilian, for example, able to deploy lethal force in self-defence (subject to
similar provisos/limitations just as the Rifle Company Butterworth could?)

Defence has no information to provide in relation to these questions.

2. Topics raised at or subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023.

a. Threat/Expectation of Casualties

During the period of service at Butterworth the relevant assessment of threat was that
conducted by the Joint Intelligence Organisation (JIO). JIO reports include the term
‘unlikely’. For example, JIO Study No. 14/74 Issued Sep. 1974 included the assessment that
‘it is unlikely that any threat to Air Base Butterworth will arise from an external overt
military attack on Malaysia’.

For current operations, Military Threat Assessments (MTA) provide assessments of the
threat to ADF personnel and capabilities. MTAs express threat in levels — Very Low to Very
High. Defence refers to our response to question 6(b) in submission 096b of 31 January 2023
concerning Military Threat Assessments.

b. Substantially more dangerous

Defence acknowledge the use of ‘substantially more dangerous than peacetime service’ in
submissions to Government and letters to individuals in the period 2011-2013. No
information has been identified to explain why the term ‘substantially’ appeared in these
documents.

c. Clarke review

Defence has not identified any further relevant documents relating to the Clarke review.
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Defence responses to remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in

Defence Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23 and topics raised at or
subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023

d. Australian Treaty Series 1971 No 21.

Further to the documents identified, Defence has located and refers the Tribunal to
Australian Treaty Series 1971 No 21.

Five Power Defence Arrangements [1971] ATS 21 (austlii.edu.au)

e. Veteran submissions and information

Defence acknowledge and note the additional information and submissions provided by
veterans to the Tribunal at, or subsequent to, the Inquiry hearings of 3/4 April 2023.

f. Definitions

Defence acknowledge the Tribunal’s view on the meaning and intent of the term ‘aligned’ in
the 1993 Cabinet Document recommendation related to the award of medals.

Defence’s view, as detailed in previous submissions, remains that the 1993 Cabinet
definitions for “warlike” and “non-warlike” do not apply directly to the terms within the
medal regulations.

The suggestion that Cabinet intended that the 1993 definitions of “warlike” or “non-warlike”
were to be applied directly to and/or operate as an independent test for consideration of
whether an operation was to be recommended for a medal, is not in Defence’s view
supported by:

e the use of the discretionary term ‘may be recommended’ in the column ‘Medals’ in
the table at attachment D of the 1993 Cabinet document;

e the contents, recommendations and outcomes of CIDA, Mohr and Clarke reviews
subsequent to 1993;

e Government’s 2001 approval of the ADF Medals Policy and in particular the
conditions for the award of the Australian Service Medal including where there was
no declaration of “non-warlike”;

e evidence of successive Government’s recommendations to the Governor-General for
medal declarations for “non-warlike” service where there was no nature of service
classification (nor an independent assessment of service against 1993 definitions) or
a classification of “peacetime”; and/or

e the process and practice followed by Defence to consider medallic recognition, the
outcomes of which have been presented to and accepted by successive
Governments.

The assessment and classification of nature of service occurs prior to or shortly after the
commencement of an ADF operation. It may change during the deployment. However,
consideration for medallic recognition only occurs at a later date and ultimately is a
discretionary decision based on consideration of multiple relevant factors.
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Defence responses to remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in

Defence Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23 and topics raised at or
subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023

The process and practice for the recommendation for the award of any medal commences
on receipt of a request to consider medallic recognition. The consideration of medallic
recognition may include a number of relevant factors including a nature of service
classification (the outcome of a nature of service assessment and not the assessment itself),
the number of ADF members involved, the duration of an operation, existing medallic
recognition for that service such as foreign awards and/or existing Australian awards which
could be applied to that service. An assessment or an independent test of service against
the definitions of “warlike”, “non-warlike” or “peacetime” does not occur as part of the
consideration for medallic recognition.

Following consideration of relevant factors, Defence may recommend to the Minister that
they recommend to the Governor-General that they declare an operation for the purpose of
medallic recognition.
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S47E(d)

From: Holmes, Mark BRIG

Sent: Monday, 1 May 2023 10:50 AM

To: S47E(d) Robards, Paul DR 1

Cc: S47E(d)

Subject: RE: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into

medallic recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989
[SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL

47E(d)

Thank you for the update and provision of this copy. Thank you and i for the work in putting this together.

| think your answers and subsequent clarifications are appropriate.
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

Sent: Friday, 28 April 2023 7:30 PM

To: Robards, Paul DR 1 S47E(d) Holmes, Mark BRIG S47E(d)
Co.SATE(d)

S47E(d)
Subject: FW: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic recognition for service
with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989 [SEC=0OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL
Hi,
Supplementary submission attached.
Thank you for suggested input and assistance

| could not locate/receive a copy of the LWP so did not make any reference to that document in submission.

Regards,
S47E(d)

S47E(d)
Director Honours and Awards
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Defence People Group

S47E(d)  Brindabella Park ACT
p S47E(d) M: S22

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

To: S47E(d) DHA Tribunal <dha.tribunal@defence.gov.au>
Subject: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic recognition for service with
Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

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





